The Courier, Winter 2022

Tennessee. Historical Commission.

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.memphis.edu/govpubs-tn-miscellaneous-departmental-publications-tn-historical-commission

Recommended Citation
https://digitalcommons.memphis.edu/govpubs-tn-miscellaneous-departmental-publications-tn-historical-commission/4

This Document is brought to you for free and open access by the Miscellaneous Tennessee Departmental Publications at University of Memphis Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Tennessee Historical Commission by an authorized administrator of University of Memphis Digital Commons. For more information, please contact khggerty@memphis.edu.
Established in 1980 by the National Park Service (NPS), the Certified Local Government (CLG) program promotes preservation through a partnership between NPS, state historic preservation offices (SHPO), and local governments with historic zoning ordinances. The Tennessee Historical Commission’s CLG program was developed by Dr. Jim Jones in 1984, with the first local governments joining the program in 1985. Nancy Jane Baker served as CLG Coordinator from 1989 to 2001, followed by Dr. Tara Mitchell Mielnik, Kevin Chastine, Nathan Montague, and Rob Crawford. Dan Brown held the role from 2011 to 2016, Jane-Coleman Cottone from 2016 to 2021, and Ellen Dement Hurd since June 2021.

Becoming a CLG provides several benefits to local communities. At least 10% of Tennessee’s annual Historic Preservation Fund allocation is set aside for CLG access every year. CLGs are also given the authority to review all Section 106 review projects and all new National Register nominations within their boundaries. In addition, CLGs receive increased technical support and training from THC. A list of CLG grant-funded projects, requirements for CLG status, and CLG contact information is available on the THC website at https://www.tn.gov/historicalcommission/federal-programs/local-government-assistance.html.

Tennessee’s Fifty CLG communities:
Clarksville and Montgomery County were both certified on June 7, 1985. Located in northern central Tennessee, Clarksville is the county seat of Montgomery County. Clarksville was founded in 1785, and Montgomery County was created in 1786. It is the home of Austin Peay State University and the U.S. Army’s Fort Campbell. The Clarksville-Montgomery County Regional Historic Zoning Commission oversees the Emerald Hill, Dog Hill, and Main Street historic zones. In 2019, THC funded a survey of downtown Clarksville’s historic resources.

The town of Greeneville became a CLG on June 7, 1985. The east Tennessee town was founded in 1783 and incorporated in 1795 as the seat of Greene County. It briefly served as the capital of the State of Franklin in the eighteenth century and is also known as the home of President Andrew Johnson. The Greeneville Historic Zoning Commission was established in 1964 and oversees a local historic zone that encompasses most of the town. Greeneville received a 2014 grant to restore the windows of the National Register-listed Dixon-Williams Mansion and a 2019 survey grant from THC.
Jackson and Madison County were certified on June 26, 1985. Located in west Tennessee, the city and county were both established in 1821. Nearby, Pinson Mounds State Archaeological Park is a prehistoric Eastern Woodland mound complex. The Jackson-Madison County Historic Zoning Commission oversees locally designated historic districts and conservation districts, including the East Main Historic District, the North Highland Historic District, the Terrace Place Historic District. The Jackson Greyhound Bus Station was rehabilitated using historic tax credits and received a 2021 Certificate of Merit Award from THC.

Nashville was certified on July 16, 1985. Located in middle Tennessee, Nashville was founded in 1779 as the Davidson County seat, and it has served as the state capital since 1843. Notable historic sites include President Andrew Jackson’s Hermitage plantation, the Civil War Fort Negley, and the Ryman Auditorium (known as the Mother Church of Country Music). The city’s Metropolitan Historical Commission was established in 1966 and works to document, save, and increase public awareness of the city’s historic places. The Metropolitan Historic Zoning Commission oversees the city’s Historic Preservation Zoning Overlays, Neighborhood Conservation Zoning Overlays, Historic Bed and Breakfast Overlays, Historic Landmark Overlays, and Historic Landmark Interior Overlays. In 2021, the city began offering a local historic tax incentive. Nashville projects funded by THC include a 2021 survey of rural cemeteries, a 2018 pattern book for outbuildings in historic overlay districts, and a 2015 master plan for Two Rivers Mansion.
Knoxville joined the CLG program on August 5, 1985. The city of Knoxville was established in 1786 as the Knox County seat, and it is the largest city in east Tennessee. Knoxville has been home to the University of Tennessee since 1794, and in 1796 it became the first capital of the State of Tennessee. Knoxville’s local historic districts include Edgewood-Park City, Fairmont Park, Fort Sanders, Fourth and Gill, Gobblers Knob, Lyons View Pike, Market Square, Mechanicsville, Old North Knoxville, Scenic Drive, and Tazewell Pike. The city further supports preservation through a local Historic Preservation Fund established in 2014, and it is home to Marble Springs State Historic Site. THC grant projects in Knoxville include a historic resource inventory in 2014, restoration of the Ramsey House in 2016, and funding for staff and commissioners to attend the National Alliance of Preservation Commissions conference in 2017.

The city of Covington became a CLG on August 19, 1985. The west Tennessee city was founded in 1824 as the seat of Tipton County. It is home to the world’s oldest Bar-B-Que Cooking Contest. The city’s Historic Zoning District includes residential and commercial historic resources. In 2010, the Tennessee Historical Commission funded a historic resource survey of Covington and Tipton County.

The largest city in west Tennessee, Memphis joined the CLG program on December 19, 1985. Memphis was founded in 1819 on the Mississippi River as the seat of Shelby County, and it has long served as a regional hub for commerce and transportation. Notable historic sites in Memphis include Elvis Presley’s Graceland, the Peabody Hotel, and the Lorraine Motel where Martin Luther King, Jr. was assassinated. Established in 1975, the Memphis Landmarks Commission oversees sixteen local historic districts: Annesdale Park, Annesdale-Snowden, Central Gardens, Collins Chapel, Cooper Young, Cotton Row, Cross-town, Evergreen, Gayoso-Peabody, Glenview, Lea’s Woods, Maxwellton, Rozelle-Annesdale, South Main, Speedway Terrace, Victorian Village, Vollintine-Evergreen, and Withers Home. THC funded projects in Memphis include a 2011 architectural and historical survey of the city and a 2014 historic structures report for the National Register-listed Mallory-Neely House.

Chattanooga was certified on November 28, 1989. Situated on the Tennessee River in southern middle Tennessee, Chattanooga is the site of the Mississippian town Citico and the Cherokee town of Ross’s Landing, from which the Trail of Tears began in 1839. Chattanooga was incorporated later that year as the seat of Hamilton County. The city witnessed several battles during the Civil War. Rock City Gardens opened in Chattanooga in 1932, and the city is the namesake of Glenn Miller’s 1941 “Chattanooga Choo Choo.” The Chattanooga Historic Zoning Commission oversees four Local Historic Districts: Saint Elmo, Fort Wood, Ferger Place, and Battery Place. In 2021, THC staff assisted with an updated survey of Chattanooga’s National Register historic districts.

Kingsport joined the CLG program on January 18, 1990. The east Tennessee city was settled on the Holston River in 1771 and chartered in 1822. Also known as Salt Lick, the site was an important trading center for Cherokee Indians, white settlers, and travelers passing through the nearby Cumberland Gap. A Civil War Battle was fought in Kingsport in 1864. In 1917, city planner John Nolen’s firm created a “garden city” plan for Kingsport, which was subsequently nicknamed the “Model City” and became the headquarters of Eastman Chemical Company. The Kingsport Historic Zoning Commission oversees the locally designated Boatyard, Church Circle, Main Street, White City, Watauga Street, Park Hill, Rotherwood, and Exchange Place Historic Districts. In 2018, Kingsport received a grant from THC to create design guidelines for the city’s historic overlay districts.
Franklin was certified on May 25, 1990. Located in Central Tennessee, Franklin was founded in 1799 and is the seat of Williamson County. The city was the site of a major battle during the Civil War, which is remembered at museums Carnton Plantation and the Carter House (a state historic site). The Franklin Historic Zoning Commission oversees the Adams Street, Boyd Mill Avenue, Downtown Franklin, Everbright Avenue, Franklin Road, Hincheyville, and Lewisburg Avenue Local Historic Districts, as well as eight additional local landmarks. THC grant projects in Franklin include ground penetrating radar investigations of Rest Haven and Franklin City Cemeteries in 2014, expansion of the Carter Hill Battlefield Park in 2018, and window restoration at Harlinsdale Farmhouse in 2020.

Collierville became a CLG on December 4, 1990. Founded in 1836, the west Tennessee town was the site of two Civil War battles in 1863 and emerged as the Cheese Making Capital of West Tennessee in the early twentieth century. The Historic District Commission oversees the town’s historic district, which includes the town square and surrounding commercial and residential properties. In 2020, THC funded a historic resources survey in Collierville.

Martin joined the CLG program on January 28, 1991. Located in northwest Tennessee, Martin was established in 1873 at the intersection of the Nashville and Northwestern Railroad and the Mississippi Central Railroad. The Hall-Moody Institute, a Baptist school, opened in 1900 and became a branch of the University of Tennessee in 1927. Martin’s Historic Zoning Commission was created in 1986 and oversees a historic district that includes the city’s historic commercial downtown. In 2021, Martin received a THC grant to update its design guidelines for the historic district.

Sparta was certified on June 19, 1991. Located in mid-Tennessee, Sparta was established in 1809 as the seat of White County. Sparta was the home of bluegrass artist Lester Flatt and is known as “Bluegrass USA.” The Historic Zoning Commission oversees the city’s downtown commercial historic district. Sparta is home to the Sparta Rock House State Historic Site, and THC funded a design guidelines update for Sparta in 2021.

Gainesboro became a CLG on February 4, 1993. The middle Tennessee town was settled in the 1770s and established in 1817 as the seat of Jackson County. In 1794, Governor William Blount established Fort Blount near present-day Gainesboro. The Gainesboro Historic District Commission oversees a local historic district that includes the courthouse square and surrounding commercial buildings. THC grant projects in Gainesboro include a 2014 restoration grant for the Fox School, a 2015 restoration grant for the E.O. Smith House, and a 2018 restoration grant for the Jackson County Historical Museum.
Jonesborough was certified on September 3, 1996. The oldest town in Tennessee, Jonesborough was established in 1779 as the seat of Washington County in what is now eastern Tennessee. It became the capital of the State of Franklin in 1784, and in 1820 The Emancipator, an abolitionist periodical, began publication in Jonesborough. The Jonesborough Historic District includes much of the town’s historic commercial and residential buildings. The Chester Inn State Historic Site is located in Jonesborough, and the THC funded a survey and nomination update for National Register districts in 2014.

Harriman joined the CLG program on September 16, 1996. Located in east Tennessee, the town was established in 1889 by Methodist minister Frederick Gates as a temperance town—entirely free from alcohol. The American Temperance University was founded in 1905 in Harriman. The town’s Historic Zoning Commission was established in 1990 and oversees the Cumberland Street, Downtown Commercial, and Margrave Drive Historic Districts. In 2012, THC funded structural repairs and stabilization of Harriman’s Temperance Building.

Gallatin became a CLG on October 16, 1996. The middle Tennessee city was established in 1802 as the seat of Sumner County. Nearby state historic sites include Cragfont, Wynnewood, and Hawthorn Hill. In 1991, Gallatin created their historic zoning program, which includes the East Main Street Historic District and the Woodson Terrace Historic District. THC has funded a survey of the city’s historic districts in 2020.

Shelbyville was certified on June 18, 1998. The seat of Bedford County in middle Tennessee, Shelbyville was established in 1810. As the home of the Musgrave Pencil Company, Shelbyville is known as “the Pencil City”. Shelbyville is also known as “the Walking Horse Capital of the World” because it has hosted the Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration since 1939. In 2021, THC funded a restoration grant for the windows of the 1934 Bedford County Courthouse. The city’s Historic Zoning Commission oversees the Downtown Historic District and the Tree Streets, Cox-Adams Landmark, Reeves/Chinouth, and Kitzmiller/Blowers Historic Conservation Districts.

Cragfont State Historic Site, located east of Gallatin, is the preserved and interpreted home of Revolutionary War protagonist and Middle Tennessee pioneer General James Winchester.
Johnson City joined the CLG program on October 14, 1999. The city was founded in east Tennessee in 1856 by Henry Johnson as a railroad depot, and it was incorporated in 1869. The city is home to the Tipton-Haynes State Historic Site, the Mountain Home VA Medical Center, a National Historic Landmark constructed in 1903, and East Tennessee State University, founded in 1911. A preservation plan for Johnson City was prepared with a 1997 grant from THC, and in 2018 a THC grant funded a survey and National Register nomination for the Gump Addition residential area.

Rogersville was certified on March 15, 1999. The east Tennessee town was first settled in 1775 along the Wilderness Road stagecoach route. Rogersville officially founded as the seat of Hawkins County in 1789. It is home to Tennessee’s first newspaper and first post office. The Rogersville Historic Zoning Commission oversees a local historic district that includes commercial and governmental resources, including the 1824 Hale Springs Inn and the 1836 Hawkins County Courthouse. THC funded restorations of the St. Marks Presbyterian Church in 2018 and the Powell Law Office in 2021.

Bolivar became a CLG on August 8, 2000. The seat of Hardeman County in west Tennessee, Bolivar was established in 1825 on the site of the Chickasaw town of Hatchie. The Civil War battles of Hatchie Bridge and Middleburg were fought nearby in 1862. The city features many homes built by architect Fletcher Sloan that have been restored by the Association for the Pres-
The Bolivar Historic Zoning Commission oversees the Court Square District, the Bills-McNeal District, and the North Main Street District. THC funded the restoration of the United Sons & Daughters of Charity Lodge Hall in 2020 and the restoration of the Hardeman County Courthouse in 2016.

**Columbia** joined the CLG program on October 17, 2001. The central Tennessee city was founded in 1808 as the seat of Maury County and incorporated in 1817. Located on the banks of the Duck River, Columbia is home to two National Historic Landmarks, the President James K. Polk Home and Rattle and Snap Plantation, as well the Columbia Athenaeum and the annual Mule Day event. The Historic Zoning Commission oversees the Downtown Commercial, Athenaeum, West 6th, West 7th, and Barrow Court Historic Districts. THC funded a restoration of the Jack and Jill Building in 2016 and the creation of design guidelines and a preservation plan for the city in 2017.

**Cookeville** was certified on May 1, 2002. The mid-Tennessee city was established in 1854 as the seat of Putnam County. Cookeville is home to Tennessee Technological University, which was founded in 1909 as Dixie College. The Cookeville Historic Zoning Commission was created in 2000 and oversees the North Dixie Avenue, Cream City, East Broad/Freeze Street, and East 8th Street Historic Districts. In Cookeville, THC has funded the digitization of historic property survey data in 2007 and the creation of a self-guided walking tour of local historic districts in 2014.

**Bartlett** became a CLG on July 1, 2002. First called Union Depot, the west Tennessee city was first settled in 1829 and incorporated in 1866. Notable historic sites include Cedar Hall, the Nicholas Gotten House, and Davies Manor. Bartlett’s historic zoning program was created in 1999, and the Historic Preservation Commission created an awards program in 2011.

**Murfreesboro** became Tennessee’s 25th CLG on July 29, 2003. Founded in 1811 as the seat of Rutherford County in middle Tennessee, Murfreesboro served as the capital of Tennessee from 1818-1826. During the Civil War, the 1862 Battle of Stones River was fought in Murfreesboro; the site is now a National Battlefield. Middle Tennessee State University was founded in Murfreesboro in 1911. The city’s Historic Zoning Commission oversees the East Main Street Historic Zone, and the city operates the Oaklands Mansion House Museum. THC funded the purchase of a battlefield tract at Stones River in 2020.

In Murfreesboro, the National Register-listed Oaklands Mansion was saved from demolition by the Oaklands Association and opened for public visitation in the early 1960s.
Dandridge joined the CLG program on November 7, 2003. Founded in 1783, the east Tennessee town is the seat of Jefferson County. The town sits on the French Broad River, and in its early years was a stagecoach stop. Many early nineteenth century inns and taverns remain, including Shepard’s Inn, Roper Tavern, Hickman Tavern, and Thomas Tavern. A Civil War skirmish occurred in Dandridge in 1863, and in 1942, Douglas Dam was constructed on the French Broad River nearby. Dandridge’s local historic district includes the town’s historic core. In 2014 and 2016, THC funded the restoration of the Hickman Tavern, now the Dandridge Town Hall.

McMinnville joined the CLG program on September 22, 2004. The middle Tennessee city was founded in 1809 as the seat of Warren County. Major historic sites include Falcon Rest, the Black House, and the Park Theatre, and McMinnville is the home of musical artists Uncle Dave Macon, Dinah Shore, and Dottie West. McMinnville’s historic zoning program protects its historic commercial district.

Hohenwald became a CLG on December 8, 2004. The mid-Tennessee city was founded in 1878 and is the seat of Lewis County. The city began as a community of German immigrants and later merged with another nearby immigrant town, New Switzerland. THC funded a walking tour of Hohenwald’s Residential Historic District in 2007 and restoration of the Hohenwald Depot in 2014.

Brownsville was certified on January 21, 2009. The west Tennessee seat of Haywood County was established in 1824. The city is home to the West Tennessee Delta Heritage Center and Temple Adas Israel, the oldest synagogue in Tennessee. Brownsville’s historic zoning program protects the Business Square and Residential Historic Districts. THC funded a survey of the city’s historic resources in 2012 and the creation of maps, brochures, and a digital access campaign in 2014.

La Grange joined the CLG program on July 24, 2009. Located in west Tennessee on the Wolf River, La Grange was originally the site of a Chickasaw village. The town was incorporated in 1829. Also known as La Belle Village, La Grange is known for its collection of antebellum Greek Revival houses. Nearby Ames Plantation hosts the National Field Trial Championship for bird dogs every year. THC funded the restoration of the La Grange Civic Center in 2015, and THC surveyed the town’s historic resources in 2021.

McKenzie was certified on December 18, 2012. The west Tennessee was organized in 1867 at the intersection of the Nashville and Northwestern Railroad and the Memphis and Ohio Railroad. It is home to Bethel University, which was founded in 1847 in McLemoresville, Tennessee, and moved to McKenzie in 1872. THC has funded a survey of the city’s historic resources in 2012 and updated design guidelines in 2020.

Sullivan County became a CLG on May 24, 2012. The east Tennessee county was established in 1779. Its seat, Blountville, is the only unincorporated county seat in the state, and the county is also home to Kingsport and Bristol. The county is home to Rocky Mount State Historic Site, the first seat of government of the Southwest Territory in 1890. The county’s Historic Zoning Commission oversees the Blountville Historic District, six Blountville Conservation District, and the Piney Flats Historic District. THC has funded a survey and update of the Blountville Historic District in 2012 and restoration of the Anderson Townhouse in 2019.

Jefferson City joined the CLG program on August 12, 2015. Founded in east Tennessee in 1788 under the name Mossy Creek, the area was incorporated as Jefferson City in 1901. In 1851, Carson-Newman University was founded in Mossy Creek, and a Civil War battle was fought in the area in 1863. The Cherokee Dam on Mossy Creek was constructed in 1942 and powered nearby Oak Ridge. The Historic Mossy Creek District includes the city’s historic commercial downtown. THC funded masonry work at Glenmore Mansion in 2020.

Cleveland was certified on December 14, 2015. The east Tennessee city was part of the Cherokee Nation’s territory. The tribe’s last capital was located nearby at Red Clay, now a state historic park, from 1832 until the tribe’s removal in 1838. Cleveland was established in 1838 as the seat of Bradley County. After the Civil War, Cleveland experienced industrial prosperity with the opening of the Harwick Stove Company and several hosiery mills. Lee University was founded by the Church of Christ in 1918. Since 2004, the Historic Preservation Commission has overseen the Residential Historic District. THC funded the restoration of the Craigmiles House, now the city’s library, in 2016.

Savannah became a CLG on March 2, 2015. The west Tennessee city was incorporated in 1833 as the seat of Hardin County. During the Civil War, the Battle of Shiloh was fought nearby in 1862, and the battlefield is now a National Military Park. Nearby

Dandridge, Hickman Tavern, now the Dandridge Town Hall.
Pickwick Dam was completed in 1983, and Savannah is home to the Tennessee River Museum. The Historic Zoning Commission oversees a historic district that includes the downtown commercial area. THC has funded the preparation of design guidelines in 2015 and a mobile tour of historic sites in 2017.

Paris was certified on October 26, 2015. The west Tennessee town was established in 1823 as the county seat of Henry County. The Battle of Paris was fought in 1862 during the Civil War, and during World War II the U.S. Army built Camp Tyson nearby. In 1944 the Tennessee Valley Authority created Kentucky Lake, the largest man-made lake in the U.S. Paris is home to the “world’s Biggest Fish Fry.” The town’s Historic Zoning Commission oversees the Lee School and North Poplar Street Historic Zoning Overlays. THC funded the restoration of the Paris-Henry County Heritage Center in 2016.

Lynchburg joined the CLG program on January 11, 2017. Lynchburg was established in middle Tennessee in 1841 as the seat of Moore County. The town is the home of Jack Daniel’s Distillery, founded in 1875, and Motlow State Community College, opened in 1969. Lynchburg’s local historic district includes commercial and residential properties in the historic downtown. THC funded a window restoration of the Moore County Courthouse in 2017 and an update of the town’s survey and design guidelines in 2020.
Lawrenceburg was certified on July 10, 2017. The middle Tennessee city is the seat of Lawrence County and was founded in 1819. The town was home to David Crockett, who served as a commissioner and helped choose the town’s location. The Lawrenceburg Historic Zoning Commission oversees a historic zone that includes commercial and residential properties downtown. THC funded restoration of the town’s Crockett Statue in 2018 and ongoing restoration work on the Crockett Theater in 2019 and 2020.

Lebanon joined the CLG program on July 10, 2017. The seat of Wilson County in middle Tennessee, Lebanon was established in 1802 and is known as the “Cedar City.” The city is home to Cumberland University, founded by the Cumberland Presbyterian Church in 1842. The Castle Heights Military Academy operated in Lebanon from 1902 to 1986, and its National Register-listed campus is now used as the city hall. The Lebanon Historic Preservation Commission was established in 2013 and oversees the Greenlawn, E. Spring Street, Cumberland University, and Square Historic Districts. THC grants in Lebanon include a restoration of Cumberland University’s Memorial Hall in 2017, a ground-penetrating radar survey of Rest Hills and Greenwood Cemeteries in 2021, and updated design guidelines in 2021.

Manchester became a CLG on November 13, 2017. The middle Tennessee city was founded in 1836 as the seat of Coffee County. The city is home to the Old Stone Fort State Archaeological Park, a prehistoric Middle Woodland hilltop enclosure site. Established in 2010, the Manchester Historic Zoning Commission oversees the Downtown Historic District. The town joined the Tennessee Downtowns program and instituted a façade improvement grant program in 2016.

Athens was certified on December 22, 2017. The seat of McMinn County, Athens was established in 1822 in east Tennessee. Tennessee Wesleyan College was established in Athens in 1857. Athens’ local historic district was created in 2010 and includes residences

The Sevier County Courthouse has been a landmark in Sevierville since its completion in 1896, the centennial of the State of Tennessee. In 1976, it was the first Tennessee courthouse placed on the National Register of Historic Places. In 1987, Dolly, the statue of Dolly Parton sculpted by Jim Gray was placed on the courthouse lawn—honoring Tennessee’s famed singer/songwriter in the heart of her hometown.
from the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. THC projects in Athens include restoration of the First United Presbyterian Church in 2016 and creation of design guidelines in 2018. City Manager C. Seth Sumner was recognized with a THC Certificate of Merit award in 2018 for facilitating the city’s CLG application.

**Bell Buckle** became a CLG on February 22, 2018. The middle Tennessee town was established in 1856 along the Nashville and Chattanooga Railroad. The Webb School was founded in Culleoka in 1870 and relocated to Bell Buckle in 1886. Bell Buckle hosts the RC Cola and Moon Pie Festival annually. Bell Buckle’s local historic district includes the commercial downtown. THC has funded design guidelines for Bell Buckle in 2018 and an alleyway design plan in 2021, and THC staff recently completed an updated survey of the town.

**Elizabethton** joined the CLG program on June 5, 2019. The town was founded in 1799 as the seat of Carter County in east Tennessee. The Watauga Association was established nearby in 1772, and the Transylvania Purchase was negotiated with Cherokee leaders in 1775. Nearby Sycamore Shoal State Park includes the Carter Mansion, a reconstruction of Fort Watauga, and the site where the Overmountain Men gathered before fighting at Kings Mountain during the Revolutionary War. Other historic sites include the 1882 Doe River Covered Bridge, Milligan University, established in 1866, and the Renfro-Allen Farm. The Historic Zoning Commission oversees the Downtown Elizabethton Historic District and Blue Grays Field Historic District. THC funded paint analysis at the Carter Mansion in 2017.

**Sevierville** was certified on June 24, 2020. The city was established as the seat of Sevier County in 1795 in east Tennessee. The McMahan Mound Site is a nearby Mississippian Native American site. Sevierville is the hometown of country music artist Dolly Parton. The city’s Historic Zoning Commission oversees the Downtown Commercial Historic Overlay. In 2021, THC funded interior restoration and fireproofing of the Sevier County Heritage Museum in the National Register-listed Sevierville Post Office.

**Cumberland Gap** became a CLG on March 12, 2021. Located in east Tennessee, the town was established in 1803. It serves as a gateway committee to the Cumberland Gap National Historic Park, which includes the historic mountain pass through the Appalachian Mountains. In 1886, a group of British investors founded the American Association, an investment company that mined for coal and iron and harvested timber. The town’s Historic Zoning District was created in 2007 and includes commercial and residential historic resources which date from the late 1800s and early 1900s.

**Jellico** joined the CLG program on March 12, 2021. The east Tennessee city was founded in 1878 as a coal mining hub, and it has been the headquarters of the Church of God Mountain Assembly since 1922. The Jellico Historic Zoning Commission was established in 2019 and oversees a historic district that includes the city’s downtown area.

**Sweetwater** became a CLG on June 8, 2021. The city was established in the 1850s in east Tennessee by Isaac Lenoir and was incorporated in 1875. The former Tennessee Military Institute was established in 1874 in Sweetwater. The city’s Historic Overlay Zone includes the city’s commercial downtown.

**Mount Pleasant** was certified as Tennessee’s fiftieth Certified Local Government on January 31, 2022. The city was incorporated in 1824. The city is the birthplace of nineteenth-century humorist Samuel R. Watkins. In the 1890s, the city experienced a significant phosphate mining boom, and it is colloquially known as “The Phosphate Capital of the World.” The city established its historic zoning program in 2018, and its overlay protects its historic commercial downtown.
The National Register of Historic Places is the nation’s official list of cultural resources worthy of preservation. It is part of a nationwide program that coordinates and supports efforts to identify, evaluate and protect historic resources. The State Historic Preservation Office administers the program in Tennessee. The state’s new listings are:

Lauderdale High School, listed October 29, 2021 (Ripley - Lauderdale County)
Located in Ripley, the county seat of Lauderdale County, the Lauderdale High School is an important example of how African Americans utilized schools as multi-purpose community buildings. While the education of African American youth during Jim Crow may have been the primary focus of the school building, Lauderdale High School was the focus for many civic and social activities. The core of the school building was built in 1912 as the Lauderdale County Training School, but around 1950 the school was expanded to its current size and appearance as part of the “separate but equal” doctrines of that time. It was not until after the U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare mentioned cutting off funds for counties failing to meet desegregation guidelines, that the Lauderdale High School closed in 1969.

Dixie Theatre, listed October 28, 2021 (Lewisburg - Marshall County)
Lewisburg’s Dixie Theatre was built on the city’s courthouse square in 1936. The two-story brick building with muted Art Deco detailing was remodeled in 1978, 1994 and 1997. Opening in 1936, the theatre became a major part of the entertainment history of Lewisburg. Live performances as well as movies were featured. The Boyd family first opened a theatre on the square in 1913 but moved their theatre operations to this building in 1936. The new building featured air conditioning and cushioned seats. Like many theatres in the South, the Dixie Theatre was segregated. African American patrons had to enter a separate door.
and were only allowed balcony seating. There were no restroom facilities for African American patrons. The theatre was updated several times in an effort to attract movie-goers. Closing in 1985, the Marshall County Community Theatre purchased the building around 1993-4 and opened it for performances in 1995.

Parker’s Chapel Missionary Baptist Church and Cemetery, listed October 29, 2021 (Portland - Sumner County)
The Parker’s Chapel property includes the 1956 brick church building, 1970 concrete block fellowship hall and the historic cemetery (1885). A unique feature of the complex is that local craftsman Joe Cornelius Coakley carved about 2 dozen grave markers and the cornerstone of the church building. Freed slaves established the church soon after the American Civil War. During the first part of the 20th century, a Rosenwald School (gone) was built on adjacent property, making this immediate area the center of the community. Homecomings, sports and meetings such as the garden club and community improvement club were popular. The church also hosted events relating to desegregation and voting rights. Events continue to be held at the church and fellowship hall.

Daniel Hanley House, listed October 28, 2021 (Memphis - Shelby County)
An eclectic version of an American Foursquare residence in Memphis, the 1912 Daniel Hanley house is 2 ½ stories, sheathed in weatherboards and capped by a multi-hipped roof. American Foursquare buildings are square or rectangular and often with dormers that have different styles applied to them. The Hanley residence has brackets under the eaves, a wraparound porch, two-story bay and several styles of windows that reflect the earlier Queen Anne style of architecture. The symmetry of the facade, porch columns and railing and main entry with sidelights and transom suggest the popular Classical/Colonial Revival style. Comprising the more ornate Queen Anne and the less ornate classical style, this combination is known as Free Classic and was a popular transitional style in the early 20th century. The Hanley house is a good example of this form and style.

Information about the National Register program at THC, full nominations, and more photos are available at www.tn.gov/historicalcommission/federal-programs/national-register.html.
VANDERBILT UNIVERSITY PRESS, 301 VANDERBILT PLACE, NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37240-1813

VOYAGE OF THE ADVENTURE: RETRACING THE DONESTON PARTY'S JOURNEY TO THE FOUNDERING OF NASHVILLE by John Guider is a photo book that contains more than 120 images from the course of the journey that ended in the founding of Nashville. In the fall of 2016, Guider an award-winning photographer and author, retraced John Donelson and his party’s journey in his hand-built motorless rowing sailboat while making a visual documentation of the river as it currently exists. Jeff Sellers, the Director of Education & Community Engagement with the Tennessee State Museum wrote the foreword; Learotha Williams, a professor of history at Tennessee State University and coordinator of the North Nashville Project, contributed the chapter on “Black Faces Along the Cumberland River Basin;” Albert Binder, Cherokee activist, historian, political columnist, and reporter, wrote about the “Cherokee Perspective on the Founding of Nashville and the Late Eighteenth Century;” and Carroll Van West, State Historian, and Director of the Center for Historic Preservation at Middle Tennessee State University, contributed the essay “Modern Times for the Tennessee and Cumberland Rivers.” These essays direct the reader’s attention toward heretofore disregarded narratives inclusive of the Cherokee whom the explorer encountered and the enslaved who had no discretion and therefore forced in making the journey. Additionally, West’s essay conveys how the rivers of the 18th century were different from the waterways of the 19th century and how by the 1830s, the Cherokee were being ferried to the west as a part of the Indian Removal. Guider’s photographs taken along Donaldson’s route gives the reader an illustration of settlement narrative. They, along with the essays, offer a different and newer viewpoint that includes and gives voice to those often neglected and relegated to an almost nondescript role in the mainstream chronicle. This volume utilizes the lesser-known experiences of Native Americans and enslaved African Americans, some of whom did not survive the river journey that led to the founding of what is now known as Nashville, a space fraught with horror that they endured and learned how to navigate. This work should be of interest to those wanting a more inclusive narrative about the founding of the “It City.” Hardback, 34.95, Paper, 24.95

THE UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE PRESS, 110 CONFERENCE CENTER, 600 HENLEY STREET, KNOXVILLE, TENNESSEE 37996

MARGARET MURRAY WASHINGTON: THE LIFE AND TIMES OF A CAREER CLUBWOMAN by Sheena Harris is the first biography of the third wife of Booker T. Washington. The historical accounts of Washington, twice-widowed, are well known as an educator and reformer; the first president and principal developer of Tuskegee Normal and Industrial Institute, now Tuskegee University; and the most influential spokesman for African Americans between 1895 and 1915. Born enslaved at the onset of America’s Civil War, Margaret “Maggie” James Murray was born on March 9, 1861, in Macon, Mississippi, to enslaved Lucy Murray and her white Irish father, James Murray—less than four years after the infamous 1857 Dred Scott Supreme Court decision that legalized African Americans exclusion from first-class citizenship, an exclusion that became synonymous with blackness and extended to the 1896 Plessy v. Ferguson decision that judged African Americans separate and unequal. Twenty years after her birth, Margaret Murray entered Fisk University, where she befriended fellow classmate W. E. B. DuBois, with whom she served as an investigative journalist and editor for the Fisk Herald. Washington’s education and academic preparation at Nashville’s Fisk University facilitated her position as a principal leader of African American Women that provided her with an education directly associated with and by the “new black elite.” Three years after being graduated in 1889, on October 12, 1892, Margaret “Maggie” James Murray married Booker T. Washington. Although married to the most influential African American, Margaret Washington became a powerful and important woman in her own right. An educational reformer, an active founder and clubwoman, Washington improved Tuskegee Institute, co-founded the National Federation of Afro-American Women (1895) and the National Association of Colored Women (1896), which held its first national meeting in Nashville during the city’s Centennial Celebration. Davis, an associate professor of history at Tuskegee University, has added to the scholarship by bringing the leadership of this African American woman to the forefront, in a field of study that is beginning to identify and recognize African American women and their leadership skills. MARGARET MURRAY WASHINGTON: THE LIFE AND TIMES OF A CAREER CLUBWOMAN presents this understudied race woman and the inside workings of the club movement among African American women and places Washington within the group of noted and respected women of the era like Ida B. Wells, Mary Church Terrell, Nettie Napier and others. Hardback, $55.00.
CLAUDETTE STAGER RETIRES

In November, Tennessee Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer Claudette Stager retired after a long and distinguished career—including a remarkable 37 years of service to the Tennessee Historical Commission. Ms. Stager joined the THC staff in December, 1984, as coordinator of the National Register of Historic Places program. Over the next 25 years Stager wrote and edited nominations, overseeing thousands of the state’s properties added to the National Register. In 2011, Stager was appointed Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer, making her the assistant director for Federal Programs, in charge of the agency’s Historic Preservation Fund grant program and responsible for coordinating two editions of Tennessee’s historic preservation plan. A native of Michigan, Stager graduated from Syracuse University and received an M.S. in Historic Preservation from Eastern Michigan University. Prior to moving to Nashville, she served as a preservation consultant in Wisconsin.

Stager represented the Commission, giving presentations at various local, state, and national events, including Preserving the Historic Road and Preserving the Recent Past conferences. She completed articles for the Tennessee Encyclopedia of History and Culture, co-edited Looking Beyond the Highway: Dixie Roads and Culture, and wrote about Tennessee’s architecture for the Society of Architectural Historians online encyclopedia, Archipedia. Over the course of her career, she contributed articles to National Register Bulletins, and the NCHRP Model for Identifying and Evaluation the Historic Significance of Post-World War II Housing. Members of the Tennessee Historical Commission passed a unanimous resolution at the October, 2021 meeting recognizing the “very meaningful contribution to the field of historic preservation” Claudette Stager has made. The example she has set through her dedicated work to the field of historic preservation will continue to inspire the office for many years to come.

NINETEEN NEW STATE HISTORICAL MARKERS

Markers approved at the October 15 meeting of the Tennessee Historical Commission: Oak Ridge Institute of Nuclear Studies Medical Division and Oak Ridge Municipal Outdoor Swimming Pool, Anderson County; Tanner School, Cocke County; Walden College and Charles S. Johnson/Park Johnson, Davidson County; James C. Ford, Hamilton County; The Hiram Douglas House, Arthur “Fiddlin” Smith, Hurricane Mills, The Butterfield House, and The McAdoo House, Humphreys County; Hands Across America Mid-Point, Lauderdale County; Jones Training School, Marshall County; McCain’s Academy, Church and Cemetery, Maury County; Clarksville’s Slave Market, Headquarters of the United States Colored Troops, and Lincoln Homes, Montgomery County; John Wesley Stewart, Shelby County; and John William Boyd, Tipton County. For Markers Program information: www.tn.gov/historicalcommission/state-programs/historical-markers-program.

STAFF NEWS

Ethan Holden joined the staff in 2022 as co-coordinator of the National Register of Historic Places Program. He earned a Bachelor of Arts in History and Master of Arts in History from Middle Tennessee State University. Holden is currently pursuing a PhD in Public History at Middle Tennessee State University. Prior to his arrival at the Tennessee Historical Commission, Holden worked as a Graduate Research Assistant at the MTSU Center for Historic Preservation. He completed various projects during his tenure there, including a survey of Wilson County’s Century Farms and various historic structure reports for properties across the state. Holden also worked as an Architectural Historian for Thomason & Associates.

Holly Barnett Promoted

On December 19, Holly Barnett was promoted to Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer and Assistant Director for Federal Programs. Barnett has two decades of historic preservation experience in Tennessee, most recently as the Tennessee Historical Commission’s Federal Program Staff Supervisor and Preservation Tax Incentives program coordinator.

New commission member announced

Alec Richardson, a University of Tennessee at Martin alumnus, was appointed to serve as the Governor’s representative on the Tennessee Historical Commission in the fall of 2021. He is the Deputy Chief of Staff and Director of External Affairs for Governor Lee.
TENNESSEE WARS COMMISSION GRANTS AWARDED IN 2021

By Nina Scall, TWC Director of Programs

The Tennessee General Assembly enacted legislation in April 1994, creating the Tennessee Wars Commission (TWC), as a part of the Tennessee Historical Commission (THC). Since then, the TWC has helped acquire and permanently protect almost 8,000 acres and fund over 100 projects that preserve, protect, and interpret Tennessee’s military heritage—such as funding archaeological excavations that pinpointed the location of Union fortifications in Franklin and publishing A Survey of Sites Related to the American Revolution and War of 1812 in Tennessee plus the most requested brochure at Tennessee Welcome Centers, A Path Divided: Tennessee’s Civil War Heritage Trail.

The TWC helps coordinate planning efforts, preservation, and promotion of structures, buildings, sites, and battlefields of Tennessee from the era of the French and Indian War (1754-1763), American Revolutionary War (1775-1783), War of 1812 (1812-1815), Mexican-American War (1846-1848) through the Civil War (1861-1865). TWC is also charged with acquiring or providing funds for the acquisition of battlefields, cemeteries, Underground Railroad sites, and other properties associated with these conflicts. The TWC administers two grant funds: the Wars Commission Grant Fund and the Civil War Sites Preservation Grant Fund (TCWSPF). The TCWSPF was established in 2013 and has provided over $5 million in matching funding for qualified Civil War sites since it was established.

Wars Commission Grant Funds totaling $58,600 awarded in 2021:

1. The Battle of Nashville Trust, Inc., was awarded $5,600 to collaborate with the Civil War Trails staff to create and install two Civil War Trails historical markers highlighting the valor of African Americans at the Battle of Nashville, December 15th and 16th, 1864. These markers will be the first publicly available interpretation solely dedicated to the story of the U.S. Colored Troops (USCT) in Nashville.

2. The Heritage Foundation of Williamson County was awarded $30,000 and contributed a match share of $15,000 to perform a comprehensive archaeological survey of the 5.2-acre Franklin Grove Estate and Gardens site. This survey will include a ground penetrating radar strategy, a waking survey including shovel test pits in areas with high archaeological potential, and excavations depending on survey results. This site features two historic houses ca. 1855 and 1862; grounds tied to two Civil War battles in April 1863, and November 1864; and features potential earthworks. The Franklin Grove Estate and Gardens site has strong ties to the Antebellum Period, occupation, and the homefront story during the Civil War and the Reconstruction Eras. Historical research has revealed that an African American refugee camp, a Federal field hospital, and the first Freedman’s Bureau school in Franklin occupied the property.

3. Historic Castalian Springs was awarded $12,000 to present the story of civilian life during the War of 1812, the Mexican-American War, and the Civil War at Cragfont and Wynnewood State Historic Sites. The TWC is also charged with providing funds for the acquisition of battlefields, cemeteries, Underground Railroad sites, and other properties associated with these conflicts. The TWC administers two grant funds: the Wars Commission Grant Fund and the Civil War Sites Preservation Grant Fund (TCWSPF). The TCWSPF was established in 2013 and has provided over $5 million in matching funding for qualified Civil War sites since it was established.

Civil War Sites Preservation Fund totaling $564,750 awarded in 2021:

1. The Charton Tract of the Chattanooga and Wauhatchie Battlefields, located in Chattanooga, will be preserved with the help of the American Battlefield Trust and the American Battlefield Protection Program. Located along Burgess Rd, the approximately 30.7-acre tract lies in the core and study area of the Chattanooga and Wauhatchie Battlefields. The Charton Tract is adjacent to acreage preserved in 2016, known as the Veal Tract. TWC granted $344,250 toward the acquisition of this parcel for a project total of $688,500.

2. The Hardiman Tract at the Shiloh Battlefield will be preserved with the help of the American Battlefield Trust and the American Battlefield Protection Program. The Hardiman Tract consists of approximately 144.28 acres along Fraley Drive and Federal Roads, all within the 1894 legislated boundary of Shiloh National Military Park. This parcel is adjacent to land previously preserved by ABT, giving public access to this portion of the battlefield. TWC granted $133,000 toward the acquisition of this parcel for a project total of $419,614.

3. The T. Olive Tract at the Parkers Crossroads Battlefield has been preserved with the help of the American Battlefield Trust and the American Battlefield Protection Program. The T. Olive Tract consists of approximately 1/3 acre located along Wildersville Road, located within the core area of the battlefield, and adjacent to land previously preserved in the 2019-2020 grant cycle. The long-term preservation plan is to donate the parcel to the State of Tennessee to be incorporated into Parkers Crossroads Battlefield Park. TWC granted $87,500 toward the acquisition of this parcel for a project total of $238,975.
Public Comment Solicited
As the State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO), the Tennessee Historical Commission is soliciting public comment and advice on its administration of the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA). Especially, we are seeking input on such matters as geographic areas or classes of properties which may be a priority for survey and/or registration efforts, criteria and priorities which should be established for Historic Preservation Fund (HPF) grants, and ways and means through which local efforts at preservation of historic properties can be most effectively assisted. The HPF is the federal fund appropriated under the authority of the NHPA to assist states in carrying out the purposes of the NHPA. Comments and advice on other areas and issues of a more general nature are also encouraged.

Activities carried out by SHPO under the mandate of the NHPA include efforts to survey and inventory historic properties across the state and to nominate the most significant of them the National Register of Historic Places. Other activities involve programs to protect and preserve properties once they are identified by reviewing Federal projects to determine if they will adversely affect historic properties; administering the federal historic tax credit program; awarding and administering HPF grants; and providing technical assistance and advice to local governments which are attempting to establish local programs and ordinances to protect historic properties. The comments received will be used to structure the SHPO’s annual application to the National Park Service for these funds. The public input and advice which we are soliciting now will help to set both general office objectives and to establish priorities and criteria for the review of grant applications. Comments are accepted throughout the year and should be addressed to Claudette Stager, Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer, Tennessee Historical Commission, 2941 Lebanon Pike, Nashville, Tennessee 37214. This program receives Federal funds from the National Park Service. Regulations of the U.S. Department of the Interior strictly prohibit unlawful discrimination in departmental federally assisted programs on the basis of race, color, national origin, age or disability. Any person who believes he or she has been discriminated against in any program, activity or facility operated by a recipient of Federal assistance should write to: Director, Equal Opportunity Program, U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, D.C. 20013-7127. Tennessee Historical Commission, Authorization Number 327324, 2,400 copies promulgated at a cost of $1.16 per copy, 1/27/22.

Starting in April, handcrafted textiles will help tell the story of civilian life in wartime Castalian Springs. Sarah Woodyard crafted the cap and chemisette seen in Susan Winchester’s portrait and her husband, Michael Ramsey, made General Winchester’s uniform with epaulets and stars made by Steve Abolt.

TWC business is conducted at the regular meetings of the Tennessee Historical Commission. Nina Scall serves as TWC’s Director of Programs and THC Executive Director, Patrick McIntyre, Jr., serves as the Executive Director of the TWC. The Program Director serves as a historic preservation advocate and consultant to city, county, and local governments as well as to various nonprofit historical associations and historic sites throughout Tennessee. Recent efforts include the development of a conservation easement monitoring strategy with the application of Geographic Information System (GIS) technology to create a series of map layers that identify state owned war-related properties and properties held under easement. Tiers of information will identify battle campaigns, troop movements, veteran cemeteries, and relevant archaeological sites; document war-related artifact collections; and help identify war-related sites in need of preservation and future acquisition.
### TENNESSEE HISTORICAL COMMISSION MEMBERS

**EAST TENNESSEE MEMBERS**
- Mr. Allen F. Carter, Athens
- Dr. William E. Kennedy, Jonesborough
- Dr. William Lyons, Knoxville

**MIDDLE TENNESSEE MEMBERS**
- Dr. Kent T. Dollar, Cookeville
- Mr. Jeremy Harrell, Franklin
- Vacant
- Mr. Kem Hinton, Nashville
- Mrs. Doris McMillan, Franklin

**WEST TENNESSEE MEMBERS**
- Dr. Douglas W. Cupples, Ellendale
- Mrs. Loni Harris, Jackson
- Mr. Brad Grantham, Bolivar
- Dr. Keith Norman, Memphis
- Mrs. Beverly C. Robertson, Memphis
- Ms. Cato Johnson, Memphis

**EX OFFICIO MEMBERS**
- Governor’s Representative, Mr. Alec Richardson
- Commissioner of Environment and Conservation’s Representative, Mr. Gerald Parish
- State Archaeologist, Mr. Phil Hodge
- State Historian, Dr. Carroll Van West
- State Librarian and Archivist, Mr. Charles A. Sherrill

**STATE OF TENNESSEE**
**TENNESSEE HISTORICAL COMMISSION**
2941 LEBANON PIKE
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37214

---

### TENNESSEE HISTORICAL COMMISSION STAFF

**FEDERAL PROGRAMS**
- Vacant
- Preservation Tax Incentives
- Mr. Ethan Holden
  National Register
  ethan.holden@tn.gov
- Ms. Ellen Dement Hard
  Certified Local Government
  ellen.dement.hard@tn.gov
- Ms. Casey Lee
  Section 106
  casey.lee@tn.gov

**STATE PROGRAMS**
- Mr. Dan Brown
  State Historic Sites
dan.brown@tn.gov
- Dr. Susan McClamroch
  THPA and Outreach
  susan.mcclamroch@tn.gov
- Mr. Graham Perry
  Cemetery Preservation
  graham.perry@tn.gov
- Ms. Nina Scall
  Wars Commission
  nina.scall@tn.gov

**ADDITIONAL STAFF**
- Mrs. Angela Campbell
  Administrative Secretary
  angela.campbell@tn.gov
- Ms. Ashlee Pierce
  Administrative Secretary
  ashlee.pierce@tn.gov
- Vacant

---